
United Nations

GENERAL
ASSEMBLY
TENTH SESSION
Official Records

CONTENTS
Page

Agenda item 28:
Draft International Covenants on Human Rights (con-

tinued) . . . . . . . • . . . . . .. 103

Chairman: Mr. Omar LOUTFI (Egypt).

AGENDA ITEM 28

Draft International Covenants on Human Rights
(E/2573, annexes I, II and Ill, A/2907 and Add.
1 and 2, A/2910 and Add.l to 5, A/2929, A/
2943, chapter VI, section I, A/C.3/L.460 and
Corr.L, A/C.3/L.466, A/C.3/L.472) (continued)

GENERAL DISCUSSION (contimicd)

Article 1 lcontinued)

1. Mr. MARTIN (Canada) said that, as the Canadian
Government had stated in its comments (E/CNA/694/
Add.6, para. 8) on article 1 of the draft International
Covenants on Human Rights (E/2573, annex I), it
considered self-determination to be a collective matter,
which was out of place in an international instrument
dealing with individual human rights. Although self
determination was an objective rather than a right,
Canada attached the greatest importance to the fulfil
ment of its obligations under Article I, paragraph 2, of
the United Nations Charter.
2. The debates on self-determination in the United
Nations had merely emphasized the divergencies of
views and had not resulted in the universal approach
which his Government considered essential to further
progress. It would be wiser to attempt compromise
solutions than for some delegations to insist on formulat
ing a right which others could not accept.
3. In signing the Charter, all the Members of the
United Nations had repudiated the idea that any human
being or group should be held in political subjection or
be the object of exploitation and had dedicated them
selves to mutual service and assistance. It was therefore
unhelpful to suggest that some Members of the Organ
ization were not prepared to abide by the principles of
the Charter. It should be assumed that the main diffe
rence was merely one of method, not of principle.
4. Through calm and friendly discussion, agreement
could eventually be reached on the meaning of the terms
"self-determination" and "peoples and nations". The
very notion of who was entitled to self-determination,
and what its exercise entailed, was still too vague for
his Government to be able to declare its unreserved
acceptance of self-determination.
5. Any attempt to implement the right of self-deterrni
nation would raise specific difficulties. First, it must be

103

THIRD COMMITTEE, 645th
MEETING

Thursday, 27 October 1955,

at 10.45 a.m.

New York

considered in relation to Article 2, paragraph 7, of the
Charter. If the General Assembly were to determine
;vhen self-determination should be applied, intervention
111 domestic matters might be involved, in which case
an amendment of the Charter might be required. Fur
ther, o?-e of the purposes of the United Nations, as laid
down m the Preamble to the Charter, was to promote
respect for the obligations arising from treaties, and
sel~-~etermination might have far-reaching effects on
existing treaty arrangements; acquired rights under
valid international treaties might also be affected. More
over, Chapters XI and XII of the Charter recognized
that certain peoples, in their own interest, needed the
protection and support of other countries; and that in
such matters "the par ticular circumstances of each
territory and its peoples" must be taken into account.
Finally, the provisions of Chapter XI implied that self
determination was not to be interpreted in such a way
as to be inconsistent with the obligations and rights of
the administering Powers. There were probably many
other questions of equal importance. The Canadian
Government was ready to play its part in finding prac
tical solutions.

6. Canada had developed towards free and equal asso
ciation between groups of widely different racial origins
and cultural and religious backgrounds and it was there
fore particularly conscious of the fact that it would
be a serious matter if Member States became morally
or legally bound to grant minority groups the right to
determine their own institutions without regard to the
wishes of the community as a whole. A premature
formulation of principles might introduce an element of
contention and rigidity into the field of self-determina
tion, when the emphasis should be on specific cases and
flexibility.

7. His delegation was prepared to study the subject
further and to support any practical suggestion which
would not involve contradictions with other Charter
obligations and which appeared politically advisable.
Canada sympathized with Governments which were
anxious to define and implement the right of self-deter
mination, but, because it was determined to live up to
its obligations, it was not prepared to subscribe to
broad and imprecise statements relating to hypothetical
situations. It was fitting that the United Nations should
help to solve the problem, but it should be remembered
that the United Nations was based on the sovereign
equality of all its Members, and that there could be no
really effective action without the consent of all the
parties concerned.
8. Mr. PEREZ DE ARCE (Chile) said that it was
clear from the debates in the United Nations that the
rizht of self-determination was in the same category as
individual human rights; the one could not be exercised
without the other. The community of nations was being
invited to accede to the covenants, which included the

A/C.3/SR.64S



General Assembly-Tenth Session-Third Committee
~-1!fri

'j r;,
i J:l

1040

right of solf-determination as a prerequisite of the exel:
cise of all other rights. Loss of the pow~r of self-deter
ruination entailed the loss of human nghts, a.s recent
experience had shown, a~ld r.espect for human rights led
inevitably to self-determination.
9.· It might be that no covenants w?uld be required
if they were intended only for countries where human
rizhts were freely exercised, but they were meant largely
fo~ countries where human rights were menace~ or
denied. Those countries knew that freedoms of all kinds
could only be. won, after a bitter struggle, in an atmos
phere of free self-determination., Chile was there~ore

strongly of the opinion that the article on self-deterrnina
tion was an integral part of the covenants and could not
he deleted.
10: When a decision had been taken on the crucial
question whether ~rtic]e 1 should b~ included, the actual
drafting of the article must be .consldered. Some d.elega
tions had made proposals which should be considered
ill the interests of clarity and precision, and the Argen
tine representative had sugg~sted (643r~ meeting) .an
addition to paragraph 3. 1he ~elegatlOns of Ch,tle,
Ecuador and Peru would submit a further drafting
amendment and were willing to consider any other
constructive suggestions.

11. He felt that paragraph 3 had been misinterpreted.
All it meant was that a country could not exercise the
right of self-determination unless it were master of its
own resources. There was no question of expropriation.
Chile could not, in any event, support any proposal
which involved a violation of the rights of property,
which were enjoyed, under the Chilean Constitution,. by
nationals and foreigners alike. The important principle
there was that self-determination must be based on
economic independence. Self-determination would be an
illusion in a country whose natural resources were con
trolled by another State, and it would be farcical to give
a country political freedom while leaving the ownership
of its resources in foreign hands.

12. Mr. NOSEK (Czechoslovakia) said that his dele
gation was convinced that the inclusion of an article on
the right of self-determination in the covenants was
essential if the covenants were to serve as effective
instruments for the realization and development of
human rights throughout the world. Those who opposed
the inclusion of article 1 in the covenants argued that
the. right of self-determination was not an individual
right, but a collective one; the Czechoslovak delegation
could not agree with that interpretation, since recogni
tion and observance of the right were prerequisites of
the exercise of individual human rights. If a whole
people was deprived of the free exercise of its political,
economic, social and cultural rights, the exercise of
those rights by individuals could only be illusory. More
over, all the articles of the draft covenants were based
on the principle of the absolute equality of all nations
and races.

13. Recognition of the right represented the wish of
the overwhelming majority of mankind and it was only
just that that wish should be expressed in the covenants.
The lessons of history, thet changes that had taken place
in the past few decades and the victorious struggle
against all forms of national and social oppression could
not be ignored. Fundamental changes had taken place
in the minds and consciences of the peoples of colonial,
semi-colonia1 and economically under-developed coun-

tries, who were struggling with ever-increasing' deter
mination for freedom and independence.
14. The defeat of fascism in the Seco~ld 'i\T.orld IVar
had given a strong impetus to national hberatlOl~ 111o\'e~

ments throughout the world and the 1l1~ny. ASian and
African nations which had begun their mdepenc!ent
development were already making important contn~ltl
tions to the cause of international peace and security,
Czechoslovakia, which had solved the national problem
by establishing equality for ~he Czech and Slovak
peoples in full freedom al;d independence, felt deel~
sympathy with, and lent Its moral stl\)port. to, tlu
struggle of other countries for national liberation,
15. Not only were recognition and .observance of the
right of self-determination vit~lly ~mportant to the
peoples which had not yet acquired l11depel1(l~nce, but
they also constituted a guarantee of the maintenance
of intemational peace and security. The General.Assem
bly had acknowledged that fa~t i~ its resolu~lOn 545
(VI), in which it stated that v.lOlatlOn of the nght had
resulted in bloodshed and war 111 the past and was con
sidered a continuous threat to peace.
16. The Charter unequivocally stated that the develop
ment of friendly relations among nations, based on
respect for the principle of equal rights and self-deter
mination of peoples, was one of the puq~oses o.f the
United Nations; the principle was stated ~11l Article 1
and in other provisions in which Member States under
took to observe it. It had been in pursuance of those
provisions of the Charter that the General Assembly
had taken the decision (resolution 545 (VI)) to include
the article on self-determination in the covenants. At
tempts to reverse that decision were inadmissible. Those
who were opposed to the incIu~iol~ of the article .u~ecl

the argument that self-determination was a political
principle, and not a right, a.s the Charter conta~ned. no
specific reference to ~he. ngh~ of self-determination,
The argument was artificial, S111ce the Charter, by de
claring self-determination to be one of the purposes of
the United Nations, recognized the right of peoples to
self-determination, in accordance with international
law, and bound all Members to observe the right.
17. The right of self-determination had been empha
sized in such recent political documents as the Atlantic
Charter, the Moscow Declaration, the Cairo Declaration
and the Declaration of the Tenth Inter-American Con
ference held at Caracas. The General Assembly had
explicitly recognized the right in a number of its reso
lutions. Moreover, the right had been reaffirmed as a
sacred and inalienable right of all peoples in the Final
Communique of the Asian-African Conference held at
Bandung, which had greatly influenced the development
of international relations.
18. The Czechoslovak delegation considered the
wording of article 1 acceptable. Paragraph 1 accurately
defined the right and paragraph 2 set forth the measures
whereby it might be realized. The provisions of para
graph 3 were also important, for the exercise of the
right was impossible unless the people concerned was
able to dispose freely of its natural wealth ancI resources.
Recent history showed that loss of economic indepen
dence necessarily led to loss of political independence.
The provision was therefore in full conformity with the
Charter and with contemporary international law.
19. The Czechoslovak delegation considered that the
wording of the article could be improved, but, in a spirit
of mutual understanding and co-operation and in order

Q



.645lh mceling-27 October 1955 105

to ~nab1e all delegations to vole for the inclusioi t" 11 '
art! '1 it d . 1 (J lec e, I' was prepare to vote for the text as it stood.
2.0' Mr. URQUIA (El Salvador) said that the tradi
~lO~al concepts he1~ by philosophers, statesmen and
junsts had ~ot admitted that the subject of the defence
C?f ~1Ul:1a~ nght~ could e,xceed the confines of domestic
junsdlctlO~l until, as a direct consequence of two world
wars, reality had Overcome tI:adi~ion ..The development
of the concept. of self-d~term111atlOn, 111 particular, had
advanced consld~r~b1:f~I~ce, immediately after the First
!¥orld yvar,.a. timid 1111~la1 step had been taken towards
internationalizing colonial territories, by inserting in
the S;ovenant of the League ?f Nations a provision
(Article 22, para. 4) that the wishes of certain comrnu
nities must be a principal consideration in the selection
of the Mandatory. Another important milestone had
bee.n the statement in the Atlantic Charter that no terri
tonal changes should be made after the Second 'World
War without ascertaining the freely expressed wishes
of the peoples concerned, who should also be free to
choose thei~ myn form of government. The principle of
self-determination had then been proclaimed in Article
1, paragraph 2, and in Article 55 of the United Nations
Cha:ter and expressed in Chapters XI and XII con
cen.ung N on-Self-G:overning Territories and the Inter
national Trusteeship System. In its endeavours to
secure. the it,"lternationa;l protection of the human rights
proclaimed 111 the Umversal Declaration the General
Asse~11bly, in resolution 637 A (VII), h~d singled out
the nght of peoples and nations to self-determination as
a prerequisite of the full enjoyment of all fundamental
human rights. There could be no doubt, therefore that
the prin~ipl~ .of continuity which governed all h~unan
culture, juridical concepts and institutions applied to
tl!e work of the. Unite~ Nations with regard to human
nghts and that It was Impossible to turn back after the
need to recognize the dignity of the human person had
been affirmed to the whole world.
21. The argument that the right of self-determination
was collective and not individual was unacceptable. The
Declaration of the Rights of Man and of the Citizen
proclaim~d in France in 1789 was undeniably a docu
ment which dealt with individual rights, yet it included
the right to resist oppression among its most important
provisions; that right might he described as collective
on the same grounds as the right of self-determination.
The distinction could be misleading, since the so-called
collective rights constituted the expression of individual
will through collective methods. As all institutions and
groups were at the service of individuals, individuals
were subject to and benefited by the action of groups.
Thus, the State constituted both a nation and a group
of individuals. That concept was the very essence of
the right of self-determination and was recognized in
many countries, including France, Germany, the United
Kingdom and the United States of America.
22. Furthermore, several other rights enunciated in
various articles of the draft covenants might be des
cribed as collective by those who were opposed to the
inclusion of article 1. For example, article 23 of the
draft Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, concerning
the right to elect and be elected, also entailed the ex
pression of the will of individual electors by collective
methods. There was no apparent difference between
casting a vote for a national or local candidate and cast
ing a vote in a plebiscite or a referendum. The people
of the Saar had recently exercised the right of self
determination by means of a referendum; it could

h~rc:1y be de:lic~l t.h'~l; by v:)t!ng, those people had
expl.essed their ll1d.lV1dual opinions on' a matter con
cermng tl~e community..The same considerations applied
to such rights as the ~Ight ?f association, the right of
a?semb1y and trade-union rights, If the' article on the
nght of sell-determination were to be deleted on the
ground that .It was a collective right, the articles on
those other rights should also be omitted.

23. .the Swedish representative had said (64lst
meeting) tl~at the c~venants were intended to refer only
to ~uman rights which were covered by domestic legis
lation and ~oul.d not be extended to such a question as
self.-deterr~1m.atl?n~ which fell exclusively within inter
natIOnal. jurisdiction, That argument seemed to be
paradoxical. In ?rder to implement the purposes of the
Charter, t~1e United Nations had to draw up covenants
f?r the pnmary ,Purpose of giving international expres
SI01; to human nghts and of consecrating them in inter
:1atlOnallaw, no~ in domestic legislation. The whole sub
ject of human. rights had therefore already exceeded the
~ounds ?f national law and was being considered on the
international level also.

:~: . }-'he United King~om representative had severely
criticized (642nd meetmg) the text of article 1 on
several counts, saying in particular that the words
"peoples" and "nations" in paragraph 1 were not defined
and that the two concepts overlapped. To define the
~ern!s was no doubt desirable, but it was a task for an
institute of political science and not for the General
Assembly. The terms were not defined in the Charter
either, yet all Member States had been able to interpret
them satisfactorily. He was inclined 'to agree, however,
that the word "peoples" alone would suffice. As the
Afghan representati:re had pointed out (644th meeting),
the paragraph apph~d to. all peoples everywhere, and
not merely ~o those inhabiting Non-Self-Governing and
Trust Territories, For all those reasons the special
reference to "nations" was superfluous. He also azreed
with the United Kingdom representative that the cl~sing
part of the paragraph was not happily phrased, as a
people could not very well determine its economic, social
and cultural status; indeed, the reference to the deter
mination of cultural status evoked notions of barriers
that were wholly undesirable. The paragraph might
perhaps ~peak of economic, social and cultural develop
ment ; his delegation would welcome an amendment
improving the text.

25. There ha~ been no ob)ections of substance to para
graph 2 of article 1, and indeed there could hardly be
any, since under the Charter the Administering States
had already assumed the obligation to guide the peoples
of Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories towards
self-government or independence, either of which would
mean exercise of the right to self-determination.

26. The provision in paragraph 3 was wholly justified,
as a people which became an independent political entity
must, to survive, exercise sovereignty over a certain
territory and over the natural wealth and resources of
that territory. Nevertheless, there was some justice in
the objection that the provision might frighten foreign
investors, thus hampering the economic development of
the very territories involved, and he would therefore
have no objection to a more moderate phrasing of para
graph 3, and perhaps the introduction of a reference to
economic co-operation among nations in conditions of
security, as stated in paragraph 1 of General Assembly
resolution 626 (VII).



106 Genera! Assembly-Tcnth Session-Third Committeo

27. His delegation, eager to reach common ground,
would be ready to consider suitable amendments to
article 1. Unhappily, the delegations which had criti
cized that article had not proposed any such amend
ments. They 'had proposed the deletion of the text
instead of seeking to improve it. Yet it was only if all
Member States, large and s111a11, made a sincere effort
to reconcile their views that the draft covenants would
become what they should be: universally acceptable and
universally applicable.
28. Mr. MASSOUD ANSARI (Iran) said that, in
its long history, his country had often suffered from the
misapplication of the right of self-determination and
was therefore particularly anxious that the relevant
provision in the covenants should not give rise to
similar misuse. After briefly outlining the evolution of
the draft covenants in the United Nations he said that
to delete article 1 would be tantamount to removing
the cornerstone of the entire foundation which it had
taken years of patient labour to erect. In any event,
the General Assembly had settled that issue by its
resolution 545 (VI), in which it had decided to insert
such an article in the covenants.
29. His delegation was in favour of the inclusion of
article 1, with certain reservations. It based its stand on
the declaration in the Final C01nmu~lique of the Asian
African Conference held at Bandung that the right of
peoples to self-determination was a prerequisite of the
full exercise of all human rights. Since the time of
President Wilson, who had been the first to speak to
the world of "self-determination", the right had been
exercised so often and by so many that no possible doubt
remained of its being indeed a right and not a vague
academic principle. The many millions represented at
the Bandung Conference were firmly determined to
exercise it to its full extent. As the other rights set

Printerl in Canada

forth in the draft covenants WOl11d represent rights H!

the legal sense of the word, he failed to see any Y.a~id
legal reason for excluding a right that was a prereqUISI te
of the enjoyment of all the rest.
30. Nevertheless, the enunciation of the right of sell
determination should not be over-simplified, lest it
become a tool in the hands of demagogues and seekers
after power, and serve to incite anarchy and unrest. It
was the duty of the United Nations not only to recog
nize the right, but to define it, state its component
elements and provide for its application. The right
should never be used to attack the legitimate sovereign
ty of independent nations over their tra:liti(!llal tel:ri
tories; the ultimate goal of self-deterIl1l1lahon being
{reedom, justice and peace, it should never he used by
a dissident minority to undermine the political stahility
of an independent and democratic country or in any
way to further aggression, sedition or subversion. Simi
larly, it should not be regarded as synonymous with
secession; on the contrary, in a world longing for
security, free exercise of the right of self-determination
was far more likely to lead to the union of the people
concerned with a larger entity.
31. With a view to avoiding over-simplification and
improper application, his delegation suggested that a
special committee of experts, jurists and historians
should be set up to study the component elements,
nature, scope and limits of the right.
32. As nothing could prevent eventual recognition of
that fundamental and legitimate right, it was for the
United Nations to take the initiative by proclaiming
it to the world and ensuring that it should be applied
in conformity with the principles of freedom, justice
and peace.

The meeting rose at 12.50 p.l11.

M-77301-D(,(,(,1l11ll'1' 11);;;;-.-1.H7~




